## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-01781-COA

FILED

MAY 0 5 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals APPELLANT

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**ANTHONY THOMAS** 

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1<sup>ST</sup> JUDICIAL DISTRICT
OF
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

Facsimile:

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER,
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
William R. LaBarre, MSB N
PUBLIC DEFENDER
Frank L. McWilliams, MSB N
Virginia L. Watkins, MSB. N
Assistant Public Defenders
Post Office Box 23029
Jackson, Mississippi 39225
Telephone: 601-948-2683

601-948-2687

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to inquire into details of a 1999 aggravated assault conviction, as it was irrelevant and far more prejudicial than probative, and thus deprived Mr. Thomas of his fundamental right to a fair and impartial trial;
- II. The trial court abused its discretion when it barred inquiry by Mr. Thomas into the drug and alcohol use of Karen Burks, as it bore on her credibility and state of mind, and
- III. The trial court erred in denial of the *Motion to Sever* by Mr. Thomas, denying him his fundamental fair trial rights.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Anthony Thomas was indicted for aggravated assault in violation of MISS.

CODE ANN. § 97-3-7(2) (1972 and for possession of a weapon by a convicted felon, in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-37-5 (1972) by a grand jury of the 1<sup>st</sup> Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi in connection with the May 21, 2006 stabbing of Karen Burks. CP 5.

Mr. Thomas stood trial on the two-count indictment beginning May 29, 2007 and was convicted on May 31, 2007. RE13-19; 26-27; CP 44-50; T. 450; 452. On July 19, 2007, Mr. Thomas was sentenced as a habitual offender to life in prison without possibility of parole, under MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-83 (1972). T. 472-473; RE 19; 28-29; CP 50.

Following pursuit of all applicable post-trial motions, Mr. Thomas appealed his cause, now before this honorable Court for review. RE 20; CP 55; 58.

#### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Anthony Thomas and Karen Burks met at the home of a mutual friend shortly after Burks moved to Jackson in the wake of Hurricane Katrina. T. 212. Burks, who lost everything in the storm that claimed so much, needed some work done at her one-bedroom apartment at Magnolia Court. T. 213; 379. Mr. Thomas offered to help and within two weeks, the couple was living together at 242 East Bell Street, next door to the niece of Burks. T. 225; 380.

The pair argued "a lot," Mr. Thomas testified, but there "wasn't no fighting."

T. 380. On the night of May 20, 2006, the arguing commenced again and Burks

locked Mr. Thomas out of their shared apartment. T. 381. He returned the next morning and asked her to go grocery shopping with him, which she did, promising not to argue. T. 381. After they returned, Mr. Thomas left to check into a possible job for the next day and while gone, he imbibed a few beers. T. 381. When he went back to 242 East Bell Street, Mr. Thomas found that Burks was "more higher than I am drunk." T. 381. Despite her earlier promise, Mr. Thomas testified Burks began arguing and he prepared to leave. T. 381.

Mr. Thomas testified he kept two tote bags always packed; he got them and took six cans of chili before heading into the bedroom to get his shoes. T. 382. At this point, Burks came into the bedroom with a knife. T. 382. Burks had little strength in her left arm, injured in a car accident twenty years before. T. 213. Nevertheless, Mr. Thomas testified that she had great strength in her right arm and put all of it in trying to stab him that night. T. 382. Mr. Thomas told the jury he was trying to pull down on her arm to make her drop the knife when Burks "snatched" and the knife hit her in the chest. T. 383. Mr. Thomas said he tried to assist Burks; he unbuttoned her shirt and pulled up other clothing to see the knife sticking out from her chest. He testified he pulled it out, told Burks she would not use that knife again and then broke the blade from the handle and put the remains in his back pocket. T. 383-384. Mr. Thomas testified he threw the blade fragments away as he walked to the home of friends to use a telephone to summon help. T. 384. The friends were not home, and as he headed back to 242 East Bell Street, he saw an ambulance go by and by the interior lights, saw paramedics working on someone. T. 384. Fearful of retribution by Burks' family, whom he said carried

firearms, Mr. Thomas returned to his home for the night. T. 384. He testified he called the University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMMC) to to find out Burks' condition, but was told she either was not there or that the information could not be given. T. 385.

Burks' version predictably differed significantly, although much of her testimony was punctuated by her stated inability to recall events of the night. For instance, Burks testified she remembered Mr. Thomas was "tipsy" when he returned to the apartment, but she does not recall what they fought about or what was said. T. 228. Burks also testified that Mr. Thomas said he was going to kill her, then put one hand over her mouth, held her with the other hand and began stabbing her, which appears to be a physical impossibility. T. 234. Burks also testified that she was stabbed nine times, which is in conflict with medical records which show two stab wounds, and differs from other statements she gave authorities that Mr. Thomas stabbed her five times. T. 230; 333; 411.

Officer Jerrick Taylor responded to the call about a domestic violence incident and arrived about 11 P.M. May 21 to find Burks collapsed on the porch of the home of Lakita Evans, niece to Burks. T. 189. Taylor testified that Burks was conscious and identified Mr. Thomas as her assailant. T. 192. Burks gave a physical description of 5'10" to 6'2" in height, about 200 pounds with a medium Afro hairstyle, some missing front teeth — and a nickname, Peanut. T. 192. Taylor testified that he remained at the scene until Burks left by ambulance and that she was conscious when the ambulance departed. T. 200.

Upon arrival at UMMC, Burks told Dr. Hunter Mafera, an Emergency Room resident that she had been using both alcohol and marijuana that night; as Burks came into the hospital with a life-threatening low blood pressure of 70, having lost as much as forty percent of her total blood volume, she was immediately rushed into surgery. T. 332; 334; 412. Burks remained in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) from May 22 to June 8, heavily sedated virtually the entire time. T. 338-339. Burks' injuries, coupled with the lengthy sedation while in ICU, could result in "mental status changes," or potential memory loss of the events of May 21, according to Dr. Christine Toves, a UMMC surgeon who oversaw some of the care given Burks. T. 337.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The unifying doctrine underlying all three assignments of error in the case at bar is the fundamental right of citizens to have a fair trial by an impartial jury.

Anthony Thomas was denied his fair trial rights, guaranteed under both state and federal constitutions, when the trial judge permitted the prosecutor to go far afield into the details of a proper conviction for a similar crime in violation of MISS.R.EVID. 609. The trial court also failed to perform the on-the-record balancing of prejudice versus probative value required *before* a prosecutor questions a defendant about prior convictions, as required by MISS.R.EVID. 404(b).

The trial court abused its discretion to the point of necessitating reversal of this cause due to its refusal to permit full confrontation of Karen Burks regarding her use of alcohol and marijuana on the night of May 21, 2006. Mr. Thomas claimed self-defense; the jury was entitled to know the full story of the events of May 21, including the use of drugs that may have tarnished the credibility of Burks – or enhanced the believability of Mr. Thomas. The fact is, neither this Court nor the jury will ever know because the trial court refused to permit full confrontation of the complaining witness.

Finally, in an issue that continues to arise, Mr. Thomas alleges it was prejudicial error for the trial court to deny his *Motion to Sever* or alternatively, to refuse stipulation by Mr. Thomas of his prior crime in lieu of parading before the jury the circumstances of his prior conviction for aggravated assault. Mr. Thomas contends the trial court acted in violation of standing U.S. Supreme Court law interpreting Federal Rule of Evidence 403, upon which MISS.R.EVID. 403 is based.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to inquire into details of a 1999 aggravated assault conviction, as it was irrelevant and far more prejudicial than probative, and thus deprived Mr. Thomas of his fundamental right to a fair and impartial trial;

During direct examination, Anthony Thomas testified about the aftermath of the incident with Burks.

#### BY MR. THOMAS

So I go to the apartment then. I couldn't go back to the house. I couldn't go back to the house. Her son probably would have killed me, and don't even know what really went on. So I couldn't go back. That's the very reason I couldn't go back to the house, because her son probably would have probably shot me.

Her nieces carry pistols, he carry pistols. I don't carry pistols. He probably would have killed me, you understand. Don't even know what's happened. So that the reason I didn't go back to the house. I know she was in an ambulance, the very reason I don't go back to the house." T. 384.

According to the prosecutor, that statement by Mr. Thomas "invited error" by "opening the door" to questions on cross-examination about the details of his prior conviction for aggravated assault in 1999. The statements of Mr. Thomas clearly refer to present practice, the night of May 21, 2006. Nevertheless, the trial court permitted, over objection of defense counsel, the following:

BY MS. [WOOTEN] MANSELL:

- Q. Did you say that you don't carry a pistol? Is that what you said?
- A. I don't carry a pistol no more because I'm a convicted felon.
- Q. You said I don't carry a pistol. Do you remember saying that?
  - A. I don't carry a pistol.
- Q. Okay. Do you remember back in 1999 when you shot Ms. Alice Proctor, the aggravated assault that you were convicted of?

BY MR. MCWILLIAMS: Your Honor, I'm going to object to that.

BY THE COURT: Pardon me?

BY MR. MCWILLIAMS: I'm going to object to that. There's no testimony about him shooting anybody –

BY MS [WOOTEN] MANSELL: Your Honor, he opened the door. Well, we've got the indictment right here.

BY THE COURT: All right. Overruled.

# BY MS. [WOOTEN] MANSELL: [Continuing]

- Q. Do you remember shooting Ms. Alice Proctor, a woman that was going to leave you? Do you remember shooting her?
  - A. Yes, ma'm. I remember shooting her.

- Q Okay. So you do carry pistols?
- A. But -
- Q. I didn't ask you -
- A. -- it was about no leaving.
- Q. I didn't ask you for an explanation.
- A. Okay.

BY MR. MCWILLIAMS: May he answer the question, Your Honor?
BY THE COURT: Pardon me?

BY MR. MCWILLIAMS: May he answer the question?

BY MS. [WOOTEN] MANSELL:I didn't – I asked him did he shoot Alice Proctor.

- A. Yes, ma'm.
- Q. Okay. So you did carry pistols?
- A. No, ma'am.
- Q. You did back in 1999?
- A Yes, ma'am.
- Q. So you've been convicted of aggravated assault of a woman back in 1999 because she was going to leave you right?
  - A. No, ma'am.

T. 387-389; RE 25.

The trial court clearly abused its discretion and violated MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE (MISS.R.EVID) 404(b) and 609(a)(1) in permitting the State to delve into the details of his past conviction for aggravated assault. Furthermore, the trial court failed to engage in the on-the-record MISS.R.EVID. 403 balancing test of prejudice versus probative value, as required by Peterson v. State, 518 So.2d 632. 636 (Miss. 1987). In Peterson, the state Supreme Court reversed a marijuana possession conviction for admission into evidence of the fact of a prior conviction for the same offense. In its analysis of the MISS.R.EVID. 404 violation, the Peterson Court outlined five factors trial courts must consider in decided whether to admit evidence of a prior crime: (1) the kind of crime involved (similarity of past crime and offense for which accused on trial weighs against admission); (2) time between prior offense and charged crime (closer in time favors admission of the conviction); (3) similarity of offense charged and prior conviction (a factor which militates against admission into evidence due to the very real fear that the jury is more likely to infer guilt from the prior crime as from the charged offense); (4) the importance of the testimony of the accused (when, as here, Mr. Thomas was the only one who could establish his defense, which was self-defense) and finally, (5) whether credibility is central and when a crime is so similar, the prejudicial effect outweighs the probative value. Id. Under at least four of five factors, the balancing test strongly weight against admission of evidence of the prior crime.

Under MISS. R. EVID. 404(b), evidence of a past conviction may be admitted to show "other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan,

knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." The prosecutor told the trial court, in opposition to the *Motion in Limine* filed by Mr. Thomas, that the information was necessary to show "motive, opportunity and intent," that Mr. Thomas "likes to assault women. He's got three prior convictions of it. He apparently just likes to use different weapons and chooses different women." T. 36. The prosecutor made no further showing of how prior convictions provided either a motive to assault Karen Burks, an opportunity to assault Karen Burks or intent to assault Karen Burks on May 21, 2006. All it did was fatally prejudice the jury in deciding the single charge before them: Whether or not Mr. Thomas feloniously and not in necessary self defense assaulted Karen Burks on the night of May 21, 2006.

Mississippi case law views the legal landscape far differently than this prosecutor, whose antics are distressingly familiar to this Court, perhaps most recently in *Douvell Davis v. State*, 970 So.2d 164 (Miss.Ct.App., 2006), reh'g den'd, cert. den'd.

In Spraggins v. State, 606 So.2d 592 (Miss. 1992), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the sale of controlled substance conviction of Spraggins due to the prosecution's questions about a prior conviction, prior arrests and other bad acts, all in violation of MISS.R.EVID. 404(b). The Court contrasted the situation of Quinn v. State, 479 So.2d 706 (Miss. 1985), in which the accused not only denied involvement in the charged sale of marijuana, but having ever sold marijuana, which the Court found constituted "opening the door" to the questioning by the State. Id., at 596-597. The Court held Spraggins "went no where near the door" as had Quinn and cited

the case of *Stewart v. State*, 596 So.2d 851, at 853 (Miss. 1992): "[t]he prosecution's impeachment privilege may not exceed the invitation extended."

More recently, in Sanders v. State, 755 So.2d 1256 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000), this Court wrote that testimony by Sanders regarding discussions with his probation officer did not open the door into a grilling by the State as to why Sanders had a probation officer. Id., at ¶¶ 4-5. Ultimately, the jury heard Sanders, on trial for armed robbery, had a prior conviction for conspiracy to commit armed robbery. This Court found, as the Supreme Court had in Quinn and Stewart, that the State far exceeded the invitation, if any, that may have been offered. Id., at ¶¶ 9-10.

The Court's decision in Sanders was based in part on MISS.R.EVID. 609, which governs impeachment by evidence of a prior conviction. Mr. Thomas would also respectfully point out that under MISS.R.EVID. 609, "[t]his Court has held many times that this examination must be limited to convictions and even then the details of the crime cannot be inquired into." Alison v. State, 274 So.2d 678, 682 (Miss. 1973). It is clear from this record that this prosecutor substantially deviated from the Court's standard in excoriating Mr. Thomas upon cross examination. He did not open the door, for it is clear from his testimony he refers to present practice—not that of seven years earlier.

The fact of Mr. Thomas's conviction was already before the jury, ostensibly to establish an element of the crime of a convicted felon possessing a weapon, in this case, a knife. T. 297-300; Exh. 34. The next day, the trial court delivered a limiting instruction to the jury, directing jurors to only consider the conviction for the limited purpose of Count Two of the indictment against Mr. Thomas. While it is

given the prosecutor's performance during cross-examination of Mr. Thomas virtually no juror would be able to limit consideration of the prior conviction. As Justice Banks noted in *Hickson v. State*, 707 So.2d 536 (Miss. 1997). "Where the resolution of a case comes down to factual disputes, the jury's role becomes paramount as it weighs the credibility of the witnesses and determines which factual accounts to accept or reject. Thus, it is absolutely imperative that the jury be unbiased, impartial, and not swayed by the consideration of improper, inadmissible information. We can not say, with any degree of certainty, that this was the case here because the fact of the matter is that the juror "threw the proverbial skunk into the jury [room]" during the deliberations by asking about other charges against Hickson. See Dunn v. U.S., 307 F.2d 883, 886 (5th Cir. 1962) ("'Ilf you throw a skunk into the jury box, you can't instruct the jury not to smell it'"). Id., at ¶ 33. While Hickson referred to the refusal of the trial court to grant a change of venue in the sexual battery trial of the defendant, counsel for Mr. Thomas believes the decision is particularly insightful when applied to the facts of this case regarding prior bad acts.

generally accepted law that jurors follow instructions given them, it is also true that

In Campbell v. State, 750 So.2d 1280 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999), the late Justice James Thomas, a former Harrison County prosecutor, reversed the cocaine sale conviction of Campbell due to repeated improper testimony of other pending charges that deprived him of a fair trial, despite repeated limiting instructions delivered by the trial court. Id., at ¶¶ 12-13. Mr. Thomas would humbly submit the limiting instruction delivered earlier in the trial failed to cure the error of the prosecutor's

inquisition into his past conviction. There can be little doubt that the prosecutor's clearly contemptuous questions of Mr. Thomas was meant to imbed into the minds of jurors the fact that Mr. Thomas historically assaulted women; ergo, he was guilty of assaulting Burks on May 21, 2006.

Because Mr. Thomas was denied a fundamentally fair trial due to the prosecutor's interjection of prior bad acts, which Mr. Thomas respectfully argues was inadmissible on the basis upon which the State relied, and which was far more prejudicial than probative, his conviction requires reversal and remand for a new trial.

# II. The trial court abused its discretion when it barred inquiry by Mr. Thomas into the drug and alcohol use of Karen Burks, as it bore on her credibility and state of mind, and

Under *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673 (1986), it is a violation of the Sixth Amendment confrontation right to unfairly restrict cross-examination of a witness. The trial court abused its discretion in denying to Mr. Thomas the right to cross-examine Karen Burks as to her use of alcohol and marijuana the night of May 21 and in so doing, denied him the right to fully confront the state's case. RE 22; 23-24; T. 35; 353-354.

The defense of Mr. Thomas was that of self-defense; the jury is the ultimate arbiter of witness credibility and all factual disputes. In this case, however, the only notice they received of possible drug and alcohol use by Burks on the night in question was through the testimony of Dr. Hunter Mafera, the emergency room resident who took her history. T. 412. Dr. Toves testified that due to the trauma and resulting treatment to save her life, Burks may not recall much about May 21, 2006.

T. 337-338. Indeed, Burks frequently testified she did not remember what the couple was arguing about May 21. It is entirely possible that Burks would have been unable to recall for the jury the use of any alcohol or illicit drugs that night.

In Shaffer v. State, 740 So.2d 273 (Miss. 1998), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded a murder and sexual battery conviction due to the denial by the trial court to allow the defense to fully cross-examine a prosecution expert regarding the alcohol and drug intake of the victim on the night she died, as such information was crucial to determination of the cause of death. Id., at ¶¶ 23-24.

"The right to impeach or to attack a witness's credibility is considered the most valid safeguard for providing the trier of fact complete access to the truth." Valentine v. State, 396 So.2d 15, 16 (Miss. 1981). The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the marijuana sale conviction against Valentine due to a similar situation as in the case at bar. The trial judge granted the State's Motion in Limine to prohibit cross-examination of the undercover purchaser except for those dealing with the purchaser's truthfulness.

Mr. Thomas humbly submits that the jury was denied "complete access to the truth" and he was denied full access to the fundamental protections guaranteed him under both state and federal constitutions. AMEND. VI, XIV, U.S. CONST; art. III, § 26, MISS. CONST.

# III. The trial court erred in denial of the *Motion to Sever* by Mr. Thomas, denying him his fundamental fair trial rights.

This issue is before the Court in two other cases, Charlie Sawyer v. State, 2007-KA-0136-COA and Michael Wayne Williams v. State, 2007-KA-0135-COA.

As in those cases, Mr. Thomas contends that under the authority of Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172 (1997), the trial court erred by denying the Motion to Sever. RE 21; T. 19. The trial court also erred in its failure to properly weigh the prejudice to Mr. Thomas of presenting to the jury the circumstances of his 1999 aggravated assault conviction, which error the prosecutor promptly compounded by her inquisition into the details of the 1999 incident. RE 25; T. 388. The decision in Old Chief is based in part of the Supreme Court's interpretation of Federal Rule of Evidence 403, which the MISS.R.EVID. 403 is a virtual copy.

In Old Chief, the basis for reversal was the refusal of the trial court to permit proof of an essential element of the assault charge by stipulation from defense counsel for Johnny Old Chief because of the similarity of the prior crime and the charge for which he was then on trial and the resulting prejudice.

There was no necessity to run the risk of a tainted verdict by agreeing to a stipulation offered by the defense; none other than the fact the prosecution would have had, perhaps, to rely upon well-reasoned legal argument to the jury, rather a performance guaranteed to inflame and or prejudice the jury.

As a matter of policy, to condone these continuing antics by an officer of the Court, acting for and on behalf of the people of the State of Mississippi, does nothing but encourage greater, more preposterous actions. Trials are not spectator sports.

Trials are not theatrical entertainment, as counsel for Mr. Thomas respectfully submits this prosecutor seems to behave. The case for guilt may be overwhelming, but one would never know from this record due to the improper actions by this prosecutor which deprived him of his fundamental right to fair and impartial trial.

While counsel for Mr. Thomas recognizes and acknowledges this Court's proper reverence for the verdict of a jury, he also asks that this Court set limits beyond which out-of-control prosecutors may not go. And that the penalty is reversal and assessed cost of retrial. To continue to condone this course of conduct results in an erosion of public trust in the criminal justice system.

Therefore, Mr. Thomas requests reversal of his conviction and remand for a constitutionally proper trial.

## CONCLUSION

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