IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

ANTHONY THOMAS

JUL 2 1 2008

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1781

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Thomas opened the door to cross examination regarding his prior conviction. While the trial court erred in failing to conduct an on-the-record *Peterson* analysis, the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Thomas' guilt. Further, the error did not prejudice Thomas as there was already testimony before the jury regarding his prior conviction as part of the State's proof that Thomas was a convicted felon in possession of a weapon. Additionally, Thomas is not entitled to a new trial on the grounds that he was not allowed to cross-examine Ms. Burk regarding her drug and alcohol use on the night in question as the jury was allowed to hear testimony from both Thomas and Dr. Hunter Mafera regarding Ms. Burks alcohol and drug use on the night in question.

The trial court properly denied Thomas' motion to sever and properly refused to allow Thomas to stipulate to his prior conviction as Mississippi law clearly establishes that when a prior conviction is an element of a crime, the State is authorized to introduce evidence of the conviction and is not limited in its method of proof.

ARGUMENT

I. WHILE THE DEFENDANT DID OPEN THE DOOR TO CROSS EXAMINATION REGARDING HIS PRIOR CONVICTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONDUCT AN ON THE RECORD ANALYSIS OF THE PETERSON FACTORS; HOWEVER, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS IN LIGHT OF THE OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT AND AS IT DID NOT UNFAIRLY PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT'S CASE.

Thomas first argues that "the trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to inquire into details of a 1999 aggravated assault conviction." (Appellant's Brief p. 7). "The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417(Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App.2002)).

Furthermore and most importantly, "the admission or exclusion of evidence must result in prejudice or harm, if a cause is to be reversed on that account." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "[w]hen a criminal defendant elects to take the witness stand in his own defense he is subject to being impeached under Rule 609 M.R.E., with evidence of prior convictions." *Bogard v. State*, 624 So.2d 1313, 1316 (Miss. 1993) (quoting *Hawkins v. State*, 538 So.2d 1204, 1206 (Miss. 1989)). "It is well established that if a defendant opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence, the State then may proceed to question further into the matter." *Moss v. State*, 977 So.2d 1201, 1210 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). During his direct examination, Thomas testified that he "don't carry pistols." (Transcript p. 384). During cross-examination, Thomas was asked whether he testified that he did not carry a pistol. (Transcript p. 387). Thomas replied, "I don't carry a pistol no more because I'm a convicted felon." (Transcript p. 387). Thus, Thomas opened the door to be questioned regarding his prior conviction of aggravated assault for shooting a woman with a pistol. However, at this point, the trial court should have conducted an on-the-record analysis of the *Peterson* factors. *Peterson v. State*, 518 So.2d 632 (Miss.1987).

The trial court's failure to conduct an on-the-record analysis is harmless error. This Court held the following in that regard in *Williams v. State*:

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *DeLoach v. State*, 722 So.2d 512(¶ 34) (Miss.1998), held that, although not completing the balancing test set forth in Mississippi Rules of Evidence 609 was an error, if the error were harmless based on the overwhelming evidence of the State, it would not constitute a reversible error. This Court finds that even though the trial judge was required to conduct a balancing test on-the-record, his failure to do so was harmless when viewed in connection with the overwhelming weight of evidence the State had prepared concerning [the defendant's] guilt.

819 So.2d 532, 541 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (*emphasis added*). In the case at hand, there was overwhelming evidence that Thomas stabbed Ms. Burks and that he was a convicted felon in possession of a weapon. Ms. Burks told investigators that Thomas was the person who stabbed her (Transcript p. 191 - 192), she identified him in a photo line up as the person who stabbed her (Transcript p. 284), and she specifically testified at trial that Thomas was the person who stabbed her (Transcript p. 216 - 217). Moreover, Thomas, while denying that he actually stabbed her, admitted that he was the only other person in the house at the time Ms. Burks was stabbed. (Transcript p. 381 - 382). Additionally, there was testimony that it was extraordinarily unlikely that Ms. Burks could have inflicted these life threatening wounds upon herself. (Transcript p. 364 and 366). There was also more than sufficient evidence that Thomas was a convicted felon in possession of a knife. (Transcript p. 285 - 286, 298, and 390).

Furthermore, this Court has previously held that "to warrant reversal on an issue, a party must show both error and a resulting injury" and that "an error is only grounds for reversal if it affects the final result of the case." *Vardaman v. State*, 966 So.2d 885, 891 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In this case, not only was there overwhelming evidence of Thomas' guilt but the evidence which Thomas claims was prejudicial was already before the jury in that the jury had already heard testimony that Thomas was convicted in 1999 of aggravated assault. (Transcript p.298). Additionally, a limiting instruction was given instructing the jury that testimony that Thomas was a convicted felon "must not be used as evidence of guilt as to count one of the indictment, aggravated assault." (Transcript p. 325). Accordingly, the trial court's failure to address the *Peterson* factors on the record was harmless error and, as such, does not require reversal.

II. THE SECOND ISSUE RAISED BY THE DEFENDANT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR AS THE DEFENDANT SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE IN THAT THE JURY WAS ALLOWED TO HEAR TESTIMONY REGARDING THE VICTIM'S USE OF ALCOHOL AND MARIJUANA ON THE NIGHT IN OUESTION.

Thomas also alleges that the "the trial court abused its discretion when it barred inquiry by Mr. Thomas into the drug and alcohol use of Karen Burks, as it bore on her credibility and state of mind." (Appellant's Brief p. 14). Acknowledging that the jury was informed that Ms. Burks had used alcohol and drugs on the night in question during Dr. Mafera's testimony, Thomas argues that he should have been allowed to cross-examine Ms. Burks regarding her alcohol and drug use on the night in question as "it is entirely possible that Burks would have been unable to recall for the jury the use of any alcohol or illicit drugs that night" and she was unable to "remember what the couple was arguing about May 21." (Appellant's Brief p. 15). However, as noted above, it is well established Mississippi law that "the admission or exclusion of evidence must result in prejudice or harm, if a cause is to be reversed on that account." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417(Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

In the case at hand, any error in not allowing the cross-examination of Ms. Burks regarding her drug and alcohol use on the night in question¹ cannot be reversible error as there was ample testimony before the jury regarding Ms. Burks alcohol and drug use on the night in question. First, Thomas himself testified that "I come back. She's drunk, not drunk but over -- she ain't over drunk, she's more drunker -- she's more higher than I am drunk, you know what I'm saying, done drunk more beers, you know, whatever." (Transcript p. 381). Additionally, Dr. Hunter Mafera gave the

The State is certainly not conceding that the trial court committed error. The State is simply pointing out that Thomas suffered no prejudice as a result of this ALLEGED error. In fact, the trial court stated on the record in ruling on the State's Motion to Exclude Evidence that it was merely granting the motion "at least as of this time." (Transcript p. 34). At the close of Ms. Burkes' direct testimony Thomas never requested that the judge reconsider its ruling and allow him to cross-examine Ms. Burks about her alcohol and drug use on the night in question.

following testimony:

Q: In Ms. Burks' case who gave you the history?

A: Ms. Burks

* * *

Q: ... And what kind of history was she able to give you as far as allergies and things like that?

A: ... But the history that was given to us by her that there was alcohol and marijuana use. And this was confirmed also by the JPD officers that were there on the scene.

(Transcript p. 411 - 412). Again as noted above, "to warrant reversal on an issue, a party must show both error and a resulting injury" and that "an error is only grounds for reversal if it affects the final result of the case." *Vardaman v. State*, 966 So.2d 885, 891 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In this case, not only was there no error but there was certainly no resulting injury as there was ample testimony before the jury regarding Ms. Burks' alcohol and drug use on the night in question.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SEVER, NOR DID IT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE DEFENDANT TO STIPULATE TO A PRIOR CONVICTION OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

Thomas asserts that the "trial court erred in denial of the Motion to Sever by Mr. Thomas, denying him his fundamental fair trial rights." (Appellant's Brief p. 16). "A trial court's denial of a motion to sever multiple counts in a single indictment is reviewed for abuse of discretion." *Dimaio v. State*, 951 So.2d 581, 585 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Rushing v. State*, 911 So.2d 526, 532 (Miss. 2005)). Mississippi Code Annotated §99-7-2(1) states that "[t]wo or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment with a separate count for each offense if: (a) the offenses are based on the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan." This Court addressed a similar issue in *Wright v. State*, a case in which the defendant sought to have the charge of armed robbery severed from the charge of felony in possession of a

firearm. 797 So.2d 1028, 1029 - 1030 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). After quoting Mississippi Code Annotated §99-7-2, the Court held:

We find no authority limiting the applicability of this portion of the multi-count indictment statute simply because some element of the necessary proof as to one charge would be inadmissible on the other charge were it being tried separately. It is, in fact, difficult to envision a trial of multiple charges where some evidence relevant to one charge would not be subject to a Rule 404(b) challenge as to the other charge, no matter how closely related in time and circumstances the two alleged crimes might be. It is often the case that evidence is admissible for a limited purpose and inadmissible for some other purpose. In that case, the answer is not to exclude the evidence altogether, but to admit it subject to the jury being instructed as to the limited purpose for which the information is admitted.

Id. (emphasis added). In the case at hand, there is no dispute that Thomas' possession of the knife is interwoven in his stabbing Ms. Burks as the knife was used to stab her. Furthermore, the judge gave a limiting instruction just as the judge in Wright v. State. Thus, the court acted within its discretion in refusing to sever the counts as requested by Thomas.

Thomas further argues that the trial court erred in refusing to allow Thomas to stipulate to a prior conviction with regard to the charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (Appellant's Brief p. 16). Again, the trial court acted within its discretion in denying Thomas his request to stipulate to the prior conviction. *See Carter v. State*, 941 So.2d 846, 854 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) and *Evans v. State*, 802 So.2d 137, 140 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (both holding that "[w]hen a prior conviction is an element of a crime, the State is authorized to introduce evidence of the conviction and is not limited in its method of proof"). Moreover, as noted above, the trial judge gave a limiting instruction charging the jury to consider the testimony regarding Thomas' previous felony conviction with regard only to the charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and not as evidence of guilt as to the charges of aggravated assault. "Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions of the court." *Long v. State*, 934 So.2d 313, 316 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Grayson*

v. State, 879 So.2d 1008, 1020 (Miss.2004)). Thus, Thomas' third issue is without merit.²

CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the conviction and sentence of Anthony Thomas as he was not denied a fair trial and as there was overwhelming evidence of his guilt.